
In The Matter of the petition of Councillor Fabian North Peigan for the Removal of Chief

Gayle Strikes With A Gun ac Chief of the Piiklni Nation

Decision of the Piikrni Nation Removal Appeals Board



December ll,20l3

1. Further to the petition of councinor Fabian North Peigan (the "Petitioner') that chief Gayle Strikes

with A Gun (the ..Respondent") be declared ineligible to corrtinue to hold office as the Chief and to

remove the Respond"rrt to- the office of chief 
-of 

the Piikani Nation the Piikani Nation Removal

Appeals Board ttfr" 
;App"ufs Board') conducted a Hearing on Novemb er 29' 2013 (the "Hearing")'

2. At the hearing on Novemb er 29,2013,the Appeals Bog^{h9ard sworn testimony from the Petitioner'

the Respondent and the Respondent's witness, Pam Wolf Tail'

aJ.

Preamble

pursuant to Band council Resolutions 2013-01-08-01 and 2013-0508-01 the Piikani Nation council

made a recommendation to the Piikani Nation Removal Appeals Board- lhat a proceeding be

conducted to determine whether the Respondent should be declared ineligible to continue to hold

office as the chief and to femove the Respondent from the office of chief of the Piikani Nation'

In recogniti on of Piikanissini the Removal Appeals Board divided the Hearing into 2 sections' the

Fiot t"i"rrg the Blackfoot traditional reconciliation and reintegration circle (the "Healing Circle") and

the secorid being the formal proceedings (the "Formal Proceedings'). Attendance at the Healing

Circle portion of the Hearing was voluntary.

The Respondent agreed to participate in the Healing Circle, but the Petitioner did not wish to

p"tti"ip"i" and so ih" p.o""r, proceeded to the Formal Proceedings held on November 29,2013,

which has resulted in this decision.

At the comrnencement of the Formal Proceedings, the Respondent took the position on record that the

Appeals Board did not have jurisdiction to hear the matter and invited the Appeals Board to decline

ir,,irAi"tion and refer the matter to the Federal Court. The matter of jurisdiction was argued at the

pre-h"aring application held on November 20,2013 and the Appeals Board rendered its decision on

itovember Zi,-ZOtZ stating, inter alia, that the Appeals Board had jurisdiction to hear this matter' A

copy of the pre-hearing delision of November 22,2013 is attached as Schedule "A" to this decision'

The Appeals Board is cognizant of its duty to apply the principles of Piikanissini which reflects the

tradition and custom of G piitanl Nation, which is part of the Blackfoot Confederacy. This tradition

and custom is included as part of the statutory law or the common law when dealing with issues such

as the piikani Nation Eleciion Bylaw, 2002 (the "Election Bylaw"). The Election Bylaw incorporates

piikanissini into the Piikani ilation elections and removals regulatory regime as it refers to
piikanissini in both its chapeau and its body (s. 11.06) which requires the Appeals Board to consider

and apply the principles of Piikanissini inreaching its decision'

The Election Bylaw sets out the qualifications for mernbers of the Appeals Board, one qualification of

which is that the individual must not be a member of the Piikani Nation, but must be of Blackfoot

origin. The requirernent to be of Blackfoot origin provides the Appeals Board with a unique

per-spective to interpret and apply Piikanisinni since the Siksikatsiitapiwa people (comprised of the

kainaiwa or Blood Nation, ttrositsitawa or Siksika Nation and Piikaniwa, which is comprised of the

North piikani Nation and South Piikani Nation) are "integrated ... through stories, songs and

cerernonies; and as a people, collaborated to maintain a distinct language, spirituality and culture, as
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well as familial, economic, social and governmental relationships'" Both parties argued for the

applicability of Piikanissiniandthe AppEals n"*9 has used the principles of Piipnnissini throughout

its deliberations to arrive at this decision which reflects the principles of Piikanissini'

g. Both the petitioner and the Respondent addressed the Appeals Board by using Blackfoot during their

submissions and testimony at the normat proceedings.- 
-The 

Appeals Board instructed both parties

that if they used Blackfoot, they needed to immediately translate what they said into English with

orrty ttt" English translation being considered by the Appeals Board'

10. The Appeals Board provided the opportunity to the Petitioner to translate into the English language

the portion of the reasons for decision to remove, which portion was an alphabet transliteration of the

Blackfoot ranguage(Exhibit 39 to the Affrdavit of DoanJcrow shoe). The Petitioner did not provide

an English r*gri"g"-tt*slation of that Blackfoot language transliteration and the Appeals Board

advised that the Blackfoot language transliteration did not iorm part of the record before the Appeals

Board.

11. The Appeals Board notes that the onus of proof is on the Petitioner to prove his case to justify

rernoval of the Respondent as Chief of the Piikani Nation. There is no onus on the Respondent to

prove or disprove any fact or allegation since if the Petitioner does not successfully justiff his case for

removal. the Petition will fail.

12. TheAppeals Board has restricted its review of the evidence it has relied upon to that exchanged by

the parties themselves pursuant to the Hearing Rules set by the Appeals !oa1d, and the testimony

given Uy the three witnesses at the Formal Proceedings held on November 29, 2013 '

Background

13. The Board wishes to summarise the evidence before it to establish the context of the situation leading

up to the piikani Nation Band Council's recommendation for removal of the Respondent on January

8,2013.

14. The Appeals Board had the opportunity to see the Petitioner, Respondent and Pam Wolf Tail while

giving sworn testimony at the Formai Proceedings, and in doing so, the Appeals Board had the

[ppott-ity and ability to assess the witness, their demeanour, frankness, readiness to answer,

coherence and consistency. Based on that opportunity, the Appeals Board is setting out herein its

findings of fact and reliance it will place on th" t*o* testimony grven by these witnesses at the

Formal Proceedings.

15. The Respondent's sister, Pam Wolf Tail, has run a medical transportation business, known as Peigan

Taxi, onthe Piikani Nation Reservation for approximately 23 years. Peigan Taxi had a contract with

Health Canada to provide the services until approximately 2011. Health Canada did not renew the

contract and beganproviding the Piikani Nation Health Department with a fixed amount for medical

transportation that was less than the amount Peigan Taxi had previously received directly from Health

Canada. The piikani Nation and Peigan Taxi attempted to negotiate a contract for these services

although a formal contract was never entered into.

16. on August 23,Z1l2Bridget Kenna, CFo and Acting CEO, called a meeting with the Health Director

and pam Wolf Tail, to discuss Peigan Taxi. Pam Wolf Tail's husband also attended the meeting. Pam

Wolf Tail asked that the Respond*t t" conferenced in on the meeting. Ms. Kenna moved Pam Wolf
Tail and her husband into Council Chambers and telephoned the Respondent from her office' After

indicating to the Respondent that she believed it was a conflict of interest Ms. Kenna teleconferenced



the Respondent in to the meeting of Pam Wolf Tail, her husband, the Health Director and some

Council members in Council Chambers. The Respondent spoke to the Council members and then

hung up.

t7. Laterthat day Ms. Kenna received an ernail fromthe Respondent which stated:

Bridgett, you did not take my directions seriously today and I am very disappointed with

regard to my phone call today. I am the Chief ofthe Nation and you do not have the right

to tell me that I cannot sit inon this or any meeting. You need to know your place and I

will not allow for this to happen. If it happens again, I will dismiss you. So, I am

reiterating, I am instructing you to pay Peigan Taxi next week at $9367.00. The taxi

contract is NOT going ouifor bids. i am instructing you to work on a contract with
peigan Taxi immJdiatety. You will also begin to work on releasing Acting Director at

the time Lorelai North 
-Peigan 

immediately due to insubordination. There will be no

further discussion on this.

18. On August 28,2}lzthe Council passed the following two motions:

Motion 2012-0828-13

Based on events at the meeting on August 23,2012, the council suspends the chief from

all business involving Peigan laxi as a result of the correspondence, conflict of interest

and ne'potism.

Motion 2012-0828-14

Chief and Council direct Chief Gayle Strikes With A Gun, shall no longer provide

direction to any flranager; she requires a quorum of seven to make any Administrative

and/or financial decisions.

19. At the end of August 2012theHealth Department prepared a cheque requisition and issued a cheque

to peigan Taxi. 6heques needed to be signed by the Piikani Nation's co-manager, MNP LLP, and a

designated Cogncilloi. Ms. Kerura indicated in her affidavit that she signed the cheque requisition

andlroceeded to obtain the necessary signatures with the intention of not releasing the cheque until

the funds were available. At that time-there was not eirough money in the account to cover the

cheque. M5p LLP signed the cheque, but the designated Councillor refused to sign it.

20. On August Zg,z11zthe Respondent directed Ms. Kenna to prepare a letter terminating or suspending

the Health Director immediately. Ms. Kenna refused, indicating to the Respondent that she required a

quorum of seven Councillors'

2I. Atthe Formal Proceedings, the Respondent gave the following sworn testimony:

a. As Chief, she was bound to follow the policies and goveming documents of the Piikani

Nation;
b. The position as a fiduciary of the Piikani Nation did not change the governing structure

of the Piikani Nation;



The administration policy of the Piikani Nation (Exhibit 8 to the Affidavit of Eloise
provost, herein referred to as the "Administration Policy") requires that directions to the

Chief Executive Officer (the "CEO") requires approval by the Chief and Council;

The Administration Policy (gtage 24 of the policy) requires several steps to be taken such

as an oral warning and a second waming, prior to the suspension of an ernployee;

The Respondent directed that the acting CEO, Bridget Kenna be fined or suspended

without u q.ro-- of Band Council, and without following the Administration Policy;

During ttri first suspension commencing on Septernber 5 to October 5, 2012, the

Respondent carried on Band business both before and after the mandatory iqjunction

granted by the Alberta court of Queen's Bench on septernb er 27 , 2012;

ihe Respondent did not feel that the Alberta Court of Queen's Bench had jurisdiction

over her:
The Respondent alleged that she was following the directive of the Petitioner to issue the

cheque lo Peigan Taxi, but admitted in testimony that she was unable to contact the

Petitioner on August 3I,2012 and other than relying on the statement of her sister, Pam

Wolf Tail, the Respondent could not say whAher the Petitioner had actually given that

directive.
i. The Respondent testified that she did not intimidate the Elders on Novemb er 20, 2012;

j. At the three previous reintegration meetings relating to the suspension of Councillors at

which the Respondent presided, Piikanissini was observed, but the process used for the

reintegration meeting held on November 16,2012 for the Respondent's reintegration was

different from the previous reintegration meetings at which the Respondent presided. All
Councillors in the previous reintegration meetings accepted their suspension and

complied with the terms thereof; and

k. When the Respondent became Chief she felt she became the mother of all the members

of the Piikani Nation.

22. lnaccordance with paragraph 14 above, in assessing the testimony given by Chief Gayle Strikes With

A Gun while giving her sworn testimony, the Appeals Board finds that although there were some

issues of frankness and readiness to answer questions on other testimony given by Chief Gayle

Strikes With A Gun, the Appeals Board finds that the testimony set out in paragraph 21 above given

by the Respondent is factual and relies thereon'

23. August 30,2012, while Ms. Kenna was meeting with the Health Director the Respondent asked Ms.

Kenna if she had drafted the letter regarding the Health Director, and Ms. Kenna replied she had not

because she only took direction from a quonrm of seven Councillors. The Respondent then told the

Health Director that she was suspended and told Ms. Kenna that she needed to leave. The

Respondent told them both that they needed to gather their things and leave the Administration

Building immediately or she would call the police.

24. Ms. Kenna went to Council Chambers and advised the Councillors that were present of the situation.

The Respondent came into Chambers and said that she had told Ms. Kenna to leave or she would

"call the cops". Ms. Kenna left the building and did not feel safe to retum that day.

25. Pam Wolf Tail testified at the Formal Proceedings that on August 31, 2012 she telephoned Marie

Crow Shoe, Finance Clerk at the Health Department, at 9:00 a.m. and Ms. Crow Shoe told her that the

money had come in so her cheque would clear that day. In her Witness Statement Pam Wolf Tail said

that Ms. Crow Shoe told her same, but also added that it was out of her hands because the cheque had

been sent to the Band office for signatures'

d.
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26. At 12:00 p.m. Ms. Crow Shoe referred Pam Wolf Tail to Tanya Potts at the Band office. When Pam
Wolf Tail stopped at the Band office she was told by Rita Moming Bull, Band secretary, that she

would have to come back to pick up her cheque because Ms. Potts had to telephone Ms. Kenna first.

27. According to her Witness Staternent when Pam Wolf Tail retumed just after 1:00 p.m. she was told
that Ms. Kenna's orders were that the cheque would not be released until Tuesday, September 4,

2012.

28. Pam Wolf Tail stated in her Witness Statement and at the Hearing that she and her husband then
drove to Fabian North Peigan's sister's home, where he was living at the time to ask him if the
cheque was going to be released. She gave testimony at the Formal Proceedings that after he spoke to
thern and called Ms. Kenna on his cell phone he told them they could go pick up the cheque.

29. lnhis Reply Statement the Petitioner stated that during his discussion with Ms. Kenna she stated there
were insufficient funds to cover the cheque, but she would double check. He told the Wolf Tails that
Ms. Kenna was going to double check if there were funds to cover the cheque and they could go to
the Band office to confirm with Ms. Kenna. He disputes that he told them they could "go pick up the
cheque".

30. In accordance with paragraph 14 above, in assessing the testimony given by Pam Wolf Tail while
giving her swom testimony, the Appeals Board finds that where there is any inconsistency or conflict
between the testimony of Pam Wolf Tail and the other evidence before the Appeals Board, in
particular as it relates to the issue surrounding the cheque for payment to Peigan Taxi in August of
2012, the Appeals Board accepts and relies upon the other evidence before it to the extent required to
render its decision herein.

31. Ms. Kenna did not attend at the Piikani Nation on Fridays. Later on, Friday, August 31, 2012 Ms.
Kerura received a telephone call from Tanya Potts, Finance Controller, that the Respondent had
demanded the cheque to pay Peigan Taxi. When Ms. Potts refused to produce the cheque the
Respondent told her to leave the building. Ms. Potts locked the cheque in the vault and left the
building.

32. Ms. Kenna then received a telephone call from someone at MNP LLP saying that the Respondent had
a new cheque and was asking for a signature, but he was not available to sign it. Ms. Kenna was later
advised by the Health Finance Clerk that the Respondent went to the Health Department in a separate
building and required the Finance Clerk to issue a new cheque.

33. Ms. Kenna worked from home from Septernber 4 to 6, 2012 because she did not feel secure in
returning to work at the Piikani Nation.

34. On September 5, 2012 the Council met to discuss the incidents of August 23 and 3I, 2012 and
through Motion 2012-0905-03 suspended the Chief for her conduct for a period of 30 days. Council's
reasons for the suspension were not provided to the Respondent until September 21,2012.

35. On September 6, 2012, despite her suspension, the Respondent attended Council Chambers and
refused to leave. Council adjourned the meeting and reconvened in Lethbridge to complete the
meeting.

36. On September 6,2012 the Council passed Band Council Resolution 2012-0906-01:



37.

38.

1. The Piikani Nation Council reaffirms that Chief Gayle Strikes With A Gun has been
suspended from Council for a period of 30 days commencing September 5,2012 with
pay.

2. During the term of the suspension Chief Gayle Strikes With A Gun shall not attempt to
give directions to Administrative staff or otherwise conduct the business of the Piikani
Nation, nor shall she attend at the Administration Office other than for personal business.

On September 12 and 13,2012 the Respondent and her supporters attended at the Administration
Office and intemrpted the staff. The Respondent's supporters verbally addressed staff members in a
tone and fashion that was inappropriate. The Respondent also told Ms. Kenna on September 13,2012
that Ms. Kenna was suspended and needed to leave the building.

On September 13, 2012 Elder Geoffrey Crow Eagle came into the Administration Office and upon
seeing people discussing the suspension of the Respondent he told them that it was an internal matter
that needed to be settled and suggested that Council needed to settle it in Council Chambers. He was
invited by the Respondent to help with the discussion so he went with the Council and the
Respondent into Council Chambers. He spoke to thern about their customs and traditions and how
this matter was causing turmoil for the Nation. He said a prayer for them and left them to work on
the issue.

39. At about 6:00 p.m. Elder Geoffrey Crow Eagle returned to the Administration Offices and Councillor
Fabian North Peigan came out from Chambers and said, "The Chief is still the Chief'. Elder Crow
Eagle advised the Respondent and Council to go on a retreat and meet away from Council Chambers
to work on their healing. He again said a prayer.

40. On Septernber 14,2012 the Council and the Respondent went to Head Smashed In Buffalo Jump to
reintegrate the Respondent. During that retreat, the Respondent attempted to chair a meeting of other
Piikani Nation business without addressing any issues of her conduct. Given the Respondent's failure
to cooperate the Council continued with her suspension.

41. The Respondent and the Respondent's supporters again attended at the Administration Office on
September 17, 2012 and disrupted staff. The Respondent again instructed Ms. Kenna to leave the
building and brought the media through the back offices of Administration, disrupting staff. Some of
the Respondent's supporters also entered the back offices and intem.rpted staff.

42. On September 27, 2012 Justice Macleod of the Court of Queen's Bench of Alberta granted a
mandatory injunction prohibiting the Respondent from attending at the Piikani Government premises
for the duration of her suspension, ending October 5, 2012 and to otherwise respect and act in
accordance with the terms of her suspension.

43.In her oral testimony the Respondent said she complied with the injunction to stay away from the
Piikani government buildings, but admitted she continued to see people in her home regarding Piikani
Nation business because she felt she could not tell people she could not talk to them.

44. The Respondentos suspension ended on October 5,2012, but she did not attend work on October 6,
2012 or contact the office. Over the weekend one of the Respondent's family members passed away
and so she did not attend work on Monday, October 9, 2012. The Acting Chief wrote to the
Respondent advising they had set aside either October 12 or 15 for her reconciliation meeting with



Council. On October I0, 2012 Administration received a copy of a doctor's note indicating the

Respondeirt was ill and unable to work until November 5,2012.

45. The acting Chief wrote to the Respondent on October I0,2012 asking if the Respondent would like
Council to adjourn the reconciliation meeting to November 6,20L2. The Respondent did not respond

to either of the Band Council's letters.

46. On October 29,2012 because November 6 was no longer available due to a meeting in Calgary the

Band Council set aside two more dates for the reconciliation meeting, Novernber 2 and 16,2012. The
Acting Chief wrote a letter advising of same to the Respondent, but the letter was not delivered to the

Respondent until November 5,2012.

47. On November 5, 2012 the Respondent returned to work. On that day she received a briefing from
Piikani Nation's in-house legal counsel, Michael Pflueger, relating to legal matters including
insolvency proceedings involving Piikani Investment Corporation ("PIC"), a corporation that

approves loans from the Piikani Trust.

48. The relevant information regarding the insolvency proceedings is that PIC and its subsidiary Piikani
Energy Corporation ("PEC") borrowed $14.25 million from the Piikani Trust. The loans have not
been repaid and most have been in default for 5 or 6 years. The Piikani Nation sued Dale McMullen,
Edwin Yellow Horn and Kerry Scott for the lost monies in Court of Queen's Bench Action No. 1001-

10326. Insolvency proceedings were also brought by the Piikani Nation against PIC and PEC.

49. The Piikani Nation was involved in negotiations with the Trustee in Bankruptcy of PIC and PEC,
CICB Trust Corporation, for over a year to make a Proposal to Creditors trnder the Banloaptcy and
Insolvency Acl in order to address PIC's debt situation (the "PIC Proposal").

50. On October ll, 2012 the Council authorized an application to the Court for the appointment of a
liquidator for the purpose of making the PIC Proposal. The application was adjourned to November
15,2012.

51. As part of her briefing Mr. Pflueger provided the Respondent with a copy of the PIC Proposal. As
negotiations were not complete and were without prejudice not every member of Council was given a
copy of the proposal. Those that did receive one were given a copy that had been watermarked with
the recipient's name.

52. After receiving the PIC Proposal on November 5, 2012 the Respondent directed Mr. Pflueger to
adjoum the application notwithstanding the instructions of Council. Mr. Pflueger refused the
direction.

53. Later on November 5,2012 Councillors Maurice Little Wolf, Eloise Provost and Doane Crow Shoe

met with the Respondent and gave her a copy of the October 29, 2012 letter regarding the
reconciliation meeting. The Respondent agreed to meet with Council the next day in Calgary.
However, later that afternoon the Respondent efirailed Council that she was unable to travel to
Calgary and asked to meet on November 16,2012.

54. Council met on November 6, 2012 and allowed an adjournment of the reconciliation meeting to
November 8,2012 in Calgary. They advised the Respondent via email that they were authorizing a
travel claim so she could attend on that date. The Respondent did not respond to that email, attend
the November 8,2012 meeting or answer a telephone call from Council during that meeting. Council
adjourned the meeting to November 16,2012.



55. The Respondent attended the November 15, 2012 cotxt application to appoint a liquidator. She

presented an affidavit sworn by her and sought an adjoumment of the application contrary to the
wishes of Council. She purported to be acting in her official capacity as Chief.

56. On November 16, 2012 the Respondent attended at the reconciliation meeting. After reviewing all
the relevant evidence before it, the Appeals Board finds that this meeting differed from previous
reconciliation meetings for suspended Councillors at which the Respondent had presided. The
Appeals Board finds that such previous reconciliations meetings observed Piiknnissini with the
Councillors being allowed to engage in a dialogue rather than simply answer prepared questions.

Council prepared its questions in advance and conducted the meeting on the record when the
Respondent was reluctant to engage in the discussion. The Respondent refused to answer the
Council's list of l5 questions and in her testimony said she copied them down in her notebook as best
she could. The Respondent provided written answers to these questions on or about December 20,
2012.

57. On Novernber 19,2012 the Council agreed on Motion 2012-IlI9-02 suspending the Respondent for
30 days with honoraria and directing her to meet with them on December 19, 2012 for another
reconciliation meeting. The reconciliation meeting was later adjourned to Decernber 20,2012.

58. On November 20,2012 the Respondent, her common law partner Larry Provost, her sister Pam Wolf
Tail and her father attended the Mary Ann McDougall Elders Centre. The evidence is not clear as to
who did what at the meeting, but an inappropriate verbal exchange occurred, the Appeals Board finds
that the Respondent did not herself engage in an inappropriate verbal exchange. The Petitioner has

produced letters from Elder Rose Pard, Gertnrde Smith and Daniel Jason Pard alleging the Elders felt
abused during a heated discussion that occurred that day between some of the Elders and the
Respondent's family.

59. On December 13,2}t2the Respondent cornmenced Court of Queen's Bench Action No. 1201-15897
in her own name and on behalf of the Piikani Nation against the Piikani Nation Council, CIBC Trust
Corporation (Trustee in Bankruptcy), Bruce Alger and Grant Thorton Alger Inc. (the court appointed
liquidator), and Michael Pflueger (the in-house lawyer for the Piikani Nation) ("Action 1').

60. On the same day the Respondent also filed an affidavit in the insolvency proceedings opposing the
PIC Proposal. The affidavit attached a number of letters written by the Piikani Nation's lawyers to
the Piikani Nation. The Piikani Nation considers those documents to be solicitor-client privileged.
At the Formal Proceedings, counsel for the Petitioner advised the Appeals Board that an application
had been granted to remove the privileged documents. However, the Appeals Board only has
documentary evidence of an application to protect privileged documents attached to Dale McMullen's
affidavit sworn on February 21,2013 and filed in the Alberta Court of Appeal. The Appeals Board
finds that there is insufficient evidence before it to reach any conclusion of the facts regarding
whether there was any resolution of the matter related to privileged documents. However, there is
evidence before the Appeals Board which shows that the Respondent included in her affidavit several
pieces ofcorrespondence from legal counsel to the Chiefand Council.

61. On December 18, 2012 Councillor Fabian North Peigan sent a Petition to the chief executive officer
(the "CEO") for the rernoval of the Respondent from the office of Chief pursuant to sections 10.01
through I1.08 of the Piikani Nation Election Bylaw, 2002 (the "Election Bylaw"). The Petition was
placed on the agenda for December 20, 2012 ard the Respondent was provided with a copy of the
Petition and advised of the meetins date.



62.

63.

The Respondent attended the Decernber 20,2012 Council meeting and provided written responses to
the questions that were asked on November 16,2012. The Council further questioned the Respondent
on her responses and she left the meeting. The Council adjoumed the Petition matter to January 8,

2013.

On December 2I,2012 the Respondent commenced Court of Queen's Bench Action No. 120l-16383
(Action #2) aganst Heenan Blaikie LLP, JSS Barristers LLP and Walsh Wilkins LLP, six individual
lawyers and one provincial court judge, all of whom had provided or were providing legal services to
the Piikani Nation. The Respondent sued not just on her own behalf, but on behalf of the Piikani
Nation. Most of the lawyers and law firms were placed in a conflict of interest which affected
ongoing lawsuits.

64. On January 4, 2013 Associate Chief Justice J.D. Rooke of the Alberta Court of Queen's Bench
pronounced the following order in Action #2:

a. The Court was satisfied that the Respondent did not have proper authority to commence
an action in the name of the Piikani Nation and ordered that the claim, insofar as it
purported to be a claim by, in the name of or on behalf of the Piikani Nation, was
immediately struck as against all defendants in the clainq with leave given to the
Respondent to apply within 30 days for a reconsideration of this portion of the order;

b. The balance of the Respondent's claim was stayed on the Court's own motion as it
constituted an abuse of process, pending further order of the Case Management Judge,
Associate Chief Justice J.D. Rooke.

65. There is no evidence before the Appeals Board that the Respondent made any further applications to
the Alberta Court of Queen's Bench to establish proper authority for the Chief to bring court actions
in the name of the Piikani Nation unilaterally without Band Council approval.

Band Council heard the Petition on January 8,2013. The Respondent made submissions, but left
before Councillor Fabian North Peigan made his rebuttal. Three members of Council, Casey Scott,
Wesley Provost and Willard Yellow Face, were absent due to illness. Councillor Fabian North
Peigan did not take part in the deliberations or decision regarding the Petition. Therefore, 8 members
of the Council signed Band Council Resolution 2013-0108-01 referring the Petition to the Piikani
Nation Removal Appeals Board and suspending the Respondent without honoraria until the Appeals
Board rendered its decision.

Band Council prepared Reasons for the January 8,2013 decision on April 25,2013. The Respondent
in argument in the Formal Proceedings advised that this list was not received by the Respondent until
Apil 26, 2013. The first page contained Blackfoot and the subsequent pages contained 160
paragraphs written in English. The Appeals Board requested the Petitioner provide a translation of
the Blackfoot writing by November 12,2013 as the Petitioner had submitted this document to the
Appeals Board as evidence under the Hearing Rules of Conduct. No translation was received and the
Appeals Board advised the parties at the Formal Proceeding that it would not be considering the
Blackfoot writing on the first page of the document in its decision.

The Petitioner provided evidence of further conduct by the Respondent in regards to potential
grounds for removal that occurred after January 8,2013. As this conduct relates to a potential basis
for removal which arose after the referral of the Petition to the Appeals Board it is not necessary to
detail those matters.

66.

67.

68.



69. On May 1, 2013 the Appeals Board sent a letter to the parties raising the issue of the January 8,2013
Band Council Resolution and section 10.05 of the Piikani Nation Election Bylaw, 2002. The
Appeals Board suggested that as a matter of administrative procedure, the issue could be dealt with by
having either the Piikani Nation Council confirm that as at January 8,2013, the Council trnanimously
consented to the recommendation for removal set out in the January 8, 2013 Band Council
Resolution. Alternatively, the Petitioner could file an appeal in accordance with s. 10.07 of the
Election Bylaws. The Appeals Board suggested that as a way to keep costs to a minimurn, these
suggestions could be raised by counsel for the Piikani Nation Council at the same Federal Court
hearing scheduled by the Respondent regarding the validity of the jurisdiction of the Appeals Board.
The evidence does not indicate whether this matter was argued before the Federal Court.

70. On May 8, 2013 the Council passed Band Council Resolution 2013-0508-01, signed by all 12
Councillors, ratiffing and reaffirming the recommendation to the Piikani Nation Removal Appeals
Board that proceedings be conducted to determine whether the Respondent should be declared
ineligible to hold the office of Chiel and to remove the Respondent from office. As well, the
Petitioner provided an appeal on July 9,2013, to the Appeals Board.

71. This matter of jurisdiction was dealt with at the November 20,2013 pre-hearing application and the
decision regarding jurisdiction is attached hereto as Schedule "A".

72. At the Formal Proceedings, the Petitioner gave the following sworn testimony:

a. The delay in the Removal Appeals Board hearing was not a benefit to the
Piikani Nation or the Petitioner but rather a detriment;

b. The Chiefs role is to set the agenda for Council meetings, preside over the
meetings and direct Council to make a decision. The Chief does not vote
unless there is a tie: The role of Chief does not come with special
authoritative powers, just privileges.

c. The Chief and Council have only one employee, the CEO, and that is the only
person they can articulate concerns to about the administrative staff. The
Council makes a decision and gives an action item to the CEO who takes the
action;

d. The 3 strike rule is used for the discipline of staff and it is done according to
the Policies by the staff member's manager, not by Council.

e. When Council questioned the Respondent about the alleged conflict of interest
in regards to her actions with Peigan Taxi the Respondent was steadfast in
her reply that it is was not a conflict of interest;

f. When the issue of Health Canada and Peigan Taxi arose it was immediately an
agenda item because of the Chief. The Respondent tasked the Council with
making an interim agreement with Peigan Taxi and told Council they could not
put position out for tender;

g. There was no signed agreement with Peigan Taxi. The negotiators butted
heads and so they walked away from negotiations;

h. The Petitioner recognizes that the governance of the Piikani Nation is a work
in progress;

i. Piikani customary law is the document entitled Piikanissini. It is the Peigan
way of life, how they live on a daily basis. What they do and do not do. They
are to respect their Elders and not argue, they are to help those less
fortunate and gather to honour and make tribute, not to fight. What is not
customary is the "White" way of life with legislation. The Chief and Band
Council practice customary law, but as a government they must follow the
rules and regulations;



j. The Petitioner prepared the Petition on his own without help from a lawyer in
order to save resources.

k. All of the Respondentls conduct that the Petitioner questions is in the
Petitioner's evidence before the Appeals Board; and

l. The Petitioner discussed the Petition with Band Council prior to January 8,
2013 to ascertain whether he had the support of Council before acting as the
Petitioner and bringing the Petition.

73. There was not in evidence a copy of the July 31, 2012 Motion of Band Council that the
services of Peigan Taxi would continue. However, both parties presented argument as
to the effect of this Motion and the Appeals Board accepts that this Motion was passed
by Band Council. The Band Council approved the continuation of services so that a
contract could be negotiated and signed;

Leeal Analvsis

74. Pursuant to section 21.05 of the Regulations and 11.06 of the Election Bylaw, the Appeals Board is
responsible for conducting, hearing and determining in accordance with the grounds in section 10.05
and the principles of Piikanissini whether the Respondent is ineligible to continue to hold the office
of Chief.

75. The Petition cites sections 10.05.02 (a), (c), (d), and (e) of the Election Bylaw as the grounds for
removal of the Respondent. Section 10.05.02 reads:

the person has failed to maintain a standard of conduct expected of a member of the
Piikani Nation Council and without limiting the generality of the foregoing, does any of
the following:

(a) accepted or offered a bribe, forged a Piikani Nation document or was otherwise
dishonest in his offrcial role:

(c) conducted a comrpt practice as determined by the principles of PIIKANISSINI;

(d) abused his office such that the conduct negatively affected the dignity and integrity of
the Piikani Nation or the Piikani Nation Council; and

(e) such other conduct as shall be determined by the Piikani Nation Council to be of such
a serious nature that removal from office is necessary and appropriate.

76. The Appeals Board notes that subsections a), c), d) and e) do not form an exhaustive list, with the
standard that the Petitioner must meet being set out in the first part of Section 10.05.02.

77. Piikanisslni is refened to in a document by previous Chief and Council and an unsigned Band
Council Resolution was submitted as evidence in this matter by the Respondent. Other references to
Piikanissini were also in evidence such as the affidavit of Geoffrey Crow Eagle submitted by the
Respondent and by the Respondent and Petitioner during testimony. Piikonissini is the way of life of
the Piikani and sets out the inherent values of the Ancient Piikani people.



78. The Respondent has raised several legal arguments challenging the validity of the proceedings or
parts thereof. Although these legal arguments do not directly affect the consideration of Piikanissini,
the Appeals Board will analyse these legal arguments as applicable in its alternative findings for its
decision.

Double Jeopardy or Cause of Action Estoppel

79. Cause of action estoppel is a concept in the civil context whereas double jeopardy is a reference to the
criminal context. We are dealing with the civil context so all references will be to cause of action
estoppel despite the reference by counsel for the parties to doublejeopardy.

80. Cause of action estoppel is an assertion that the cause of action in a current proceeding is the same as
the cause of action in a proceeding previously litigated. ( R. v. Mahalinean, [2008] 3 S.C.R. 316 at
paragraph 15) by a court of competent jurisdiction (Angle v. Canada (Minister of National Revenue

- MNR), ll975l2 S.C.R. 248 Quicklaw at pages 4 and 5) .

81. The Respondent has argued that the matters arising from the 2 pior suspensions of the Respondent
are not properly before the Appeals Board due to the operation of cause of action estoppel. The
Appeals Board finds that the cause of action in the suspension matters related to a temporary
suspension whereas the cause of action in the current hearing relate to a pernunent removal from
office. In addition, the Appeals Board finds that the suspension proceedings were not before a court
or tribunal of competent jurisdiction. Accordingly cause of action estoppel does not apply to prevent
the Appeals Board from considering the conduct of the Respondent arising from either of the first 2
suspension matters.

Issue Estoppel

82. Issue Estoppel is a public policy doctrine designed to advance the interests of justice. The
preconditions to the operation ofissue estoppel are threefold:

a. That the same question has been decided in earlier proceedings;
b. That the earlier judicial decision was final; and
c. That the parties to that decision or their privies are the same in both the proceedings.

If the moving party (in this case the Respondent) successfully establishes these preconditions,
a court or tribunal must still determine whether, as a matter of discretion, issue estoppel ought
to be applied. (Danyluk v. Ainsworth Technologies Inc.. [2001] 2 S.C.R. 460)

83. The Appeals Board has reviewed the evidence before it and finds that the suspension matter related to
a temporary suspension and was not an earlier judicial decision which was final. Accordingly, issue
estoppel does not apply to prevent the Appeals Board from considering the conduct of the Respondent
arising from either of the first 2 suspension matters and it is not necessary for the Appeals Board to
consider whether the other two preconditions were met.

84. However, even if the decision of the Piikani Nations Band Council could be considered to be a final
judicial decision, the Appeals Board would exercise its discretion to not apply issue estoppel in this
matter. To exclude the matter of the suspension hearings, would in future make Band Councils or the
Chief reluctant to attempt reconciliation or reintegration steps for fear of damaging a case to remove
the Councillor or Chief. From a practical perspective, it is not in the best interests of the Piikani
Nation for this Appeals Board to make a ruling that would create an incentive for future Band



Councils and Chiefs to refrain from taking reconciliation or reintegration steps, which are not part of
the regulatory regime set out in the Election Bylaws, for fear of jeopardising a potential removal
application, which are part of the regime set by the Election Bylaws.

85. h addition, the process of reconciliation and reintegration is one that both parties have participated in
and have agreed to, although whether certain meetings were done appropriately or not is a matter of
contention. By agreeing to the process, it is difficult to see how either party can take the position that
it was in their reasonable expectation that the suspension hearings would be conclusivJ of all their
respective rights in the civil context since to have such an expectation would result in the potential
problems set out in paragraph 84 above. Both parties have stated that they are acting in the best
interests of the Piikani Nation. For these reasons, the Appeals Board finds that neither party had the
reasonable expectation that the suspension matters would be conclusive of all issues raised therein for
purposes of this removal hearing. 2013 SCC 19
(Can LID). Accordingly, this is one more reason that the Appeals Board is not prevented from
considering the matters arising from the 2 previous suspensions.

Case To Be Met

86. The Respondent has argued that the Petitioner did not set out the case that the Respondent needed to
meet with sufficient clarity as to allow the Respondent the opportunity to fully respond to the case.

87. This matter requires a chronological review of the evidence before this Appeals Board:

December 13, 2012 - Respondent files Action #l (Alberta Queen's Bench Action No.
120l'15897) bringtng action against Piikani Nation Council, CIBC Trust Corporation,
Bruce Alger, Grant Thornton Alger In.c and Michael Pflueger with action brought in
personal name of Respondent and in the name of the piikani Nation;
December 18,2012 - Petition is submitted to Band Council;
December 20,20t2 - Council meeting to discuss Petition attended by Respondent;
December 21,2102 - Respondent files Action #2 (Nberta Queen's Bench Action No.
120l-16383) suing several lawyers (one of whom was then a Provincial Court Judge),
and law firms with action brought in personal name of Respondent and in the name of the
Piikani Nation;
January 8,2013 - Band Council recommends Petition be heard by Appeals Board (Band
Council Resolution # 2013 - 0108-01
January 30,2013 - Appeals Board members appointed;
February 8,2013 - Respondent files Federal Court application, Action No.T-2224-12 for
judicial review of January 8, 2013 decision of Piikani Nation council to refer matter to
the Appeals Board;
Apil26,20I3 - Respondent receives Reasons for Decision of the Piikani Nation Council
in respect of the January 8, 2013 Petition;
May 13, 2013 - Piikani Nation Band Council (all 12 Councillors) signs Band Council
Resolution # 2013 - 0508 - 01 ratiffing and affrming BCR # 2013 - 010g-01;
July 17, 2013 - Councillor Doane Crow Shoe swears affidavit in Federal Court Action
No, T - 2224 - 12 (Document "C" to documents submitted by Petitioner for the matter
before the Appeals Board)
November 4,2013 - Petitioner provides all witness statements and documents to support
Petitioner's case. Hearing Rules set by Appeals Board set date for Petitioner to provide
such evidence by November 1,2013 but late filing allowed;

a.

b.
c.
d.

e.

f.
oD'

h.

i.

J.
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gg. The issue of the ..case to be met" arises from the duty of procedural fairness in the administrative

context. The law in this regard is set out in May v. Ferndale Institution 2005 CarswellBC 3037' 2005

SCC 82 as follows:

..In the administrative context, the duty of procedural faimess generally requires that the decision-

maker disclose the information he or she relied upon. The requirernent is that the individual must

know the case he or she has to meet. If the decision-maker fails to provide sufficient information,

the decision is void for lack ofjurisdiction." (at pages 7 and 8)

g9. What is required in order to allow the Respondent to know the "case to be met'o is that all evidence

that is being relied upon by the Appeals Board has been disclosed to the Respondent. Unlike the

situation in tne May- case, the Appeals Board has not relied on any evidence that has not beeir

disclosed to the Respondent. As stated above, the onus is on the Petitioner to prove the case that there

is sufficient evidence to warrant the rernoval of the Respondent as Chief of the Piikani Nation. If the

petitioner failed to provide sufficient evidence to prove its case, the Petition would be dismissed.

90. The petitioner has also brought to the attention of the Appeals Board the decision of Sheriff v.

Canada (Attome), General). 2006 CarswellNat 1223,2006 FCA 139. The Appeals Board notes that,

r"ttk" " 
pt"f"6tr""t disciplinary body, the Appeals Board did not engage in any preparation or

acquisition of evidence for ttre hearing. All evidence before the Appeals Board was provided by !h9
purti"r themselves, full disclosure of all the evidence considered by the Appeals Board was provided

io both of the parties before the Hearing, and the Respondent was given an opportunity both before,

during and after the Hearing (through supplernental briefs) to respond to the evidence being relied

upon for the recommendation to rernove the Respondent as Chief.

91. Although all the evidence relied upon by the Appeals Board was disclosed to both parties, there is a

furtherlssue of when the evidence was provided. The decision to recommend removal proceedings

be commenced occurred on January 8, 2013 (Band Council Resolution # 2013 - 0108-01). The Band

Council subsequently ratified and confirmed its previous BCR of January 8, 2013 by Band Council

Resolution # 2013 - 0508 - 01. This latter BCR was signed on May 8, 2013 by all 12 of the Band

Council members, but not by the Respondent. The Appeals Board finds that the effect of Band

Council Resolution # 2OI3 - 0508 - 01 was to correct an administrative defect in the January 8,2013

BCR, but did not have the effect of raising new grounds for removal to be considered by the Appeals

Board in this Hearing.

92. The Appeals Board finds that only grounds that existed on or before January 8, 2013 are properly

before the Appeals Board to be considered in the Hearing.

93. A corollary issue also arises in this regard since evidence was provided by the Petitioner after January

8, 2013. The issue that the Appeals Board needs to consider is whether evidence submitted after

January 8, 2013 should form part of the evidentiary record which is properly before the Appeals

Board in its considerations. Section I 1.02 of the Election Bylaws states that once the Petitioner (or

November 7, 2013 - Respondent provides all witness statements and documents to

support Respondent's case. Hearing Rules set by Appeals Bold set date for November

6,,i}l3but iime for filing extended to November 7 at request of Respondent;

November ZO, ZOI3 - Pri-hearing matters heard by Appeals Board;

November 29,2Ol3 - Hearing oi the Petitioner's request for removal of the Respondent

as Chief of the Piikani Nation.



appeal in the event of a rejection of the Petition) has been served upon the Appeals Board, the

Appeals Board:

..shall thereupon set a date for the hearing and give at least fourteen (1a) days written notice of

the date, time and place of the hearing to the Piikani Nation Council, to the Chief or Councillor

who is subject to the recommendation or appeal, and to the Petitioner'"

94. The Appeals Board notes that the drafters of the Election Bylaws considered a-time as short as 14

days as-being sufficient for the parties to prepare their cases, since any Appeals Board could give

written notice on the same date that it has been served with the recommendation for rernoval. If this

time frame is considered to be too short, that is a matter for future Chief and Council to determine and

deal with by way of an amendment to the Election Bylaws'

95. Both parties share some responsibility for the delay in having the Hearing set almost 1 year after the

original Petition was considered by Band Council with the Respondent present'

96. The issue to be determined is whether the date at which the evidence was provided to the Respondent

prejudiced her position to such an extent as to result in the Respondent being unable to know the case

to be met, as is argued by the Respondent.

97. Although the original BCR recommending removal was signed on January 8, 2013, the reasons for

this decision were not provided to the Responde,lrt until approximately April 26, 2013, as set out in

argument by the Respondent. These reasons ilre some 160 paragraphs long and set out in some detail

thi reasons for the recommendation to remove the Respondent as Chief of the Piikani Nation.

Although these reasons were not provided to the Respondent until over 3 months after the original

BCR was signed, they were provided over 7 months prior to the actual Formal Proceeding on

November Zi, ZOt3. Although the reasons were provided late, the Appeals Board finds that they

were provided to the Respondint in sufficient time for the Respondent to know what the reasons of
the Band Council were for recommending removal, such that the Respondent was not prejudiced by

the timing of when these reasons were provided to her.

98. The Petitioner provided its evidence to the Respondent on November 4,2013 pursuant to the Hearing

Rules of Conduct set by the Appeals Board which was 25 days prior to the Formal Proceeedings.

AgauU if this time frame is considered to be too short, then that is a matter for future Chief and

Council to deal with.

99. The Appeals Board notes that much of the evidence submitted by the Petitioner arises from the

affidavii of Doane Crow Shoe sworn on July 17, 2013. This affidavit was sworn in Federal Court

Action No. T-2224-12 which was an action commenced by the Respondent. This Federal Court

action commenced by the Respondent was specifically related to the matter to be heard by the

Appeals Board. The Respondent cannot now argue that she was unaware of the evidence contained in
an affidavit frled in a Federal Court action which she commenced and upon which the Respondent

cross examined.

100. The Appeals Board finds the following:

a. all evidence considered by the Appeals Board was limited to the evidence provided by

the parties and both parties received this evidence;



b. although there were some delays in when the Respondent received some of the evidence'

the deiay was not sufficient to create a breach of natural justice such that the Respondent

did not know the case to be met; and

c. the Formal Proceeding held on November 29,2013 gave both parties the opportunity to

present their case.

101. Accordingly, the Appeals Board did not consider any grounds potentially supporting the

application forremoval^ihat arose subsequent to the January 8,2013 Petition, but did consider

evidence submitted to the Appeals Boarb in accordance with its Hearing Rules including the

testimony of the three witnesses given on Novemb er 29,2013, provided such evidence related to any

potentiaigrounds for removal which arose on or prior to January 8, 2013.

Abuse of Authority and Her Position as Chief

lO2. The Appeals Board has considered the context of the matter before this Appeals Board. The

Appeals goia finds that there was a conflict of interest with regard to the Respondent's involvement

*ittr ttt" meeting regarding Peigan Taxi on August 23, 2012 and attempting to procure a cheque to

pay peigan 1.axl on ,tugori 31, 2OtZ. The charge of nepotism is dismissed as there was insufficient

irridettcl for the Appeals Board to reach a conclusion in that regard.

103. The Appeals Board finds that the Respondent treated the administrative staff including Bridget

Kenna, Tanya Potts, the Health Director and the Health Finance Clerk in a fashion which was

contrary to ihat expected of a member of the Piikani Nation Council. It was inappropriate for the

Respondent to direct Ms. Kenna to fire another employee without a quorum of seven Councillors as

required by the Council's Motion, and as admitted by the Respondent's own evidence was contrary to

the policiis required to discipline, suspend and dismiss employees, policies that the Respondent

admits she was required to obierve. It was also inappropriate for the Respondent to direct and order

Ms. potts to produce the cheque and then direct her to leave the building because she refused to do so.

Further, it was against policy and inappropriate for the Respondent to direct and order the Health

Finance Clerk to issue a new cheque. A11 of these actions, taken together, is a failure by the

Respondent to maintain a standard of conduct expected of a member of the Piikani Nation Council.

104. The Respondent, by her own testimony, admitted to continuing to conduct business and represent

the Piikani Nation while she was suspended in Septernber 2012, contrary to the terms of her

suspension and the court injunction. Irespective of the validity of the suspension (which this

Apieals Board is not determining) and as much as the Respondent may disagree with her suspension,

the disregard of a court injunction tends to negatively affect the dignrty and integrity of the Piikani

Nation. piikanissini requires that the Piikani Nation strive to maintain a stable relationship with the

other orders of government. Disregarding an order of iqjunction issued by the judiciary of one of the

other orders of government is not in keeping with the Respondent's duty to comply with Piikanissini.,

The testimony of the Respondent that she did not recognise the jurisdiction of the Alberta Court of

eueen's Bench over her is a further aggravating factor. To disagree with an order of court is the right

oi *y individual, including the Respondent. However, as the leader of the Piikani Nation, to refuse

to recognise the jurisdiction of the judiciary over her personal matters, other than through the normal

judiciaistepr, ,"i, a precedent which is not in keeping with the Respondent's position as Chief. If the
-Cni"f 

of the Piikani Nation refuses to recognise the jurisdiction of the courts, the example being set

for the membership of the Piikani Nation is contrary to the obligations ptrsuant to Piikanissini of the

Respondent as Chilf. This incident and the breach of Piiknnissini adds to the overall conduct of the

Respondent which leads the Appeals Board to its decision for removal.



105. Further, during Septernber 2012the Respondent allowed her supporters to treat the Piikani Nation

Administration and Council in an inappropriate fashion. The Appeals Board recognizes that no

person has control over other individuals, but the Chief did not uphold the values, principles and

integrity of the Piikani pursuant to Piikanissini because she stood by silently and failed to stop her

supporters from what has been described in the evidence as verbally abusing and intimidating
Administrative Staff and members of Council. The Appeals Board finds that Piiknnissini requires the

Chief to intervene to stop these types of confrontations: when the Chief becomes Chief, all of the

members of the Band become their children. Even without relying on this interpretation of
Piilronissini, Piikanissini stands for many things, including striving for the betterment of all members

of the Piikani Nation, to strive to maintain family and social relationships and to protect the inherent

values and principles of the Piikani people. This incident and the breach of Piikanissini adds further

to the overall conduct of the Respondent which leads the Appeals Board to its decision for removal.

106. The Respondent also intemrpted Piikani Nation Administration and business by attending at the

Administration Office in September 2012 and taking the media through the back offices on

September 17,2012.

107. The Appeals Board finds that the evidence is not clear as to who was involved in inappropriate

behaviour at the Elders Center on November 20,2012, although the Appeals Board finds that there is

no evidence to show that the Respondent herself intimidated or disrespected any Elders. However,
the inappropriate conduct occurred indirectly through the Respondent's family who attended with the

Respondent. Under Piikanissini the Piikani Nation continually strives to maintain social

relationships, this includes relationships between the Chief and the Elders of the community. It was

incumbent upon the Respondent, as Chief, to intervene to maintain these social relationships which
she failed to do. This incident and the breach of Piikanissini adds to the overall conduct of the

Respondent which leads the Appeals Board to its decision for removal.

108. The Appeals Board finds that the Respondent did not refuse to participate in reconciliation and

reintegration meetings or try to reintegrate into her role as Chief and work with Council. She

attended the reintegration meeting on September 14, 2012 and the reconciliation meeting on
November 16, 2012. She provided written answers on December 20, 2012 to Council's questions

asked at the November 16, 2012 rwonciliation meeting. Further, she agreed to participate in the
Healing Circle as part of the Removal Appeals Board proceedings. However, as participation in a
Healing Circle is voluntary under Piiknnissini, the refusal of the Petitioner to participate is not
indicative of any wrongful action by the Petitioner pursuant to Piikanissini.

109. The Appeals Board finds that the Respondent gave unilateral instructions without a quorum of
Council to the Piikani Nation lawyer to adjourn a court proceeding (Alberta Court of Queen's Bench
ActionNo. 090I-15297) that the Band Council had originally ordered.

110. Pursuant to section 6.70) of the Peigan Nation Financial Administration Code, included in the
Respondent's evidence C.l attached as an exhibit to Edwin Yellow Hom's Witness Statement (herein
referred to as the "Financial Code") the Finance Committee is responsible for the management and

control of the expenditures and disbursements of the Peigan Nation Funds. Although the Chief is a
member ex-officio of the Finance Committee pursuant to section 6.5 of the Financial Code her
presence does not count towards the quorum of 5 members required for a meeting. This means that
the Chief could not make unilateral decisions about disbursement of Peigan Nation Funds.



111. Further, pursuant to section 6.12 of the Financial Code the members of the Finance Committee
shall not communicate or consult with any Department, Progran5 Business Entity or person
conceming matters of a financial nature affecting the Piikani Nation unless mandated to do so by the
Finance Committee or directed by the Chairperson. There is no evidence before the Appeals Board
to show that the Respondent was directed to communicate with anyone regarding the payment of
Peigan Taxi.

LLz. Although the Respondent's conduct on August 31,2012 was a breach of the Financial
Code the Appeals Board does not rely on this conduct in isolation in reaching its decision, but does
find that it adds to the overall conduct of the Respondent which leads to the decision of the Appeals
Board to order the removal of the Respondent as Chief.

A. Analysis of Conduct Raised in Paragraphs 102 to 112 Above

113. Finding Pursuant to Piifranissini: The Appeals Board has considered the Respondent's conduct as
set out in paragraphs 102 to Il2 above pursuant to the Respondent's obligations under Piikanissi.
The Appeals Board finds that each incident, viewed individually, may not be sufficient to warrant
removal as Chief, but when viewed as a whole, was a breach of Piikanisslni sufficient to warrant the
removal of the Respondent from the position of Chief of the Piikani Nation. Pursuant to the
principles of Piikanissini, it is incumbent upon the Chief to continually strive to maintain the
spirituality and culture distinct to the Piikani, including the family and social relationship, and
traditional governmental systems. The Respondent has failed in her obligations pursuant to
Piiknnissini in this regard.

Il4. The Appeals Board also notes tl:mit Piikanissini requires an individual in the Respondent's
position to protect the traditional family and social relationships and traditional governmental systems
of the Piikani Nation. This responsibility mandated by Piikanissini can only be satisfied through
continual dialogue and progressive discussions between interested parties when a dispute arises such
as in this case. The relationships to be protected by Piikanissrni must be assiduously fostered in an
effort by all parties to resolve disputes in a progressive fashion rather than rushing to final resolution
by alternate, non-traditional means. The progressive steps taken by the Band Council which includes
the suspensions and attempts at reintegration of the Respondent, although perhaps not executed
perfectly well, did follow the process required by Piikanissrni. When those progressive steps and
attonpts at reintegration did not result in a reconciliation and reintegration with and of the
Respondent, then the final step of recommending rernoval, which is the matter before this Appeals
Board, was taken. Pursuant to the principles of Piikanissini,the Appeals Board takes into account
the conduct ofthe Respondent as set out in paragraphs 102 to I 12 above in reaching its decision. To
refuse to take this conduct into account, taken as a whole, the Appeals Board would be stating that the
parties should have refrained from taking progressive steps to resolve the dispute and rather should
have waited until the situation had become so untenable as to warrant an application for removal.
Such a position would result in the maximum amount of damage to the Piikani Nation and would be
in breach of the principles of Piikonissini. The Appeals Board finds that such an interpretation of
Piilranissini would be contrary to the true spirit and intent of Piikanissini and would also set a
dangerous precedent for any future disputes which may arise between Chief and Council of the
Piikani Nation. Accordingly, the Appeals Board finds that pursuant to the principles of Piikanissini,
it is not prevented from considering the conduct of Respondent set out in paragraphs 102 to ll2
above, which includes the matters related to the 2 previous suspension.

115. The Appeals Board makes no findings regarding whether the suspension hearings themselves
were properly conducted or not. However, the Appeals Board has considered the evidence arising
from such suspension hearings in reaching its decision in the hearing before the Appeals Board.



116. The Appeals Board notes it recommended a traditional Healing Circle as part of the hearing
process. The Respondent agreed to attend the traditional Healing Circle but the Petitioner did not. As
stated above, since attendance at the traditional Healing Circle is voluntary, the conduct of the
Petitioner does not raise an issue or adverse inference to be considered by the Appeals Board.

II7. Accordingly, the Appeals Board finds that the Respondent's conduct as set out in paragraphs 102
to II2 above is a failure by the Respondent to fulfill her obligations pursuant to Piikanissini arfl
therefore is also conduct by which the Respondent has failed to maintain a standard or conduct
expected of a member of the Piikani Nation Council which is sufficiently grave so as to warrant
removal as Chief.

118. Altemate Finding Pursuant to Common Law: In the altemative, the Appeals Board finds that the
conduct as set out in paragraphs 102 to 112 above was an abuse ofauthority and conflict ofinterest
sufficient to warrant the removal of the Respondent from the position of Chief of the Piikani Nation.
The Appeals Board notes that the Respondent has stated in sworn testimony that she stands in a
fiduciary position with the Piikani Nation and its peoples. The Respondent attempted to personally
benefit by accompanying her supporters and her family when these incidents occurred, which is
contrary to her fiduciary duty to all the people of the Piikani Nation.

B. Abuse of Authority and Position as Chief

119. Findine Pursuant to Pi,?anirsrni - The Respondent in her capacity of Chief of the Piikani Nation
is obligated to ensure the valuesn principles and integrity of the Piikani are upheld in the governance
of the Piikani. The actions commenced by the Respondent on December 13,2012 naming inter alia
CIBC Trust ("Action #1') and December 21,2012 suing several lawyers, law firms and a Provincial
Court Judge ("Action #2), and in particular Action #2 were a breach of the Respondent's obligations
pursuant to Piikanissini.

120. Unilaterally bringng a court action in the name of the Piikani Nation that is subsequently struck
as not being properly authorised with the remainder of the action stayed as an abuse of process
degrades the values, principles and integrity of the Piikani Nation. For the Piikani Nation to strive to
maintain a stable relationship with the Provincial and Federal govemments, one that is based on
principles of mutual respect, the representatives of the Piikani Nation, of which the Respondent is
one, must ensure that the intemal govemance policies and procedures of the Piikani Nation are
followed rather than acting unilaterally. It is the failure of the Respondent to follow the principles of
Piikonissini which resulted in the Piikani Nation name being used without proper authority and the
judicial arm of the Provincial government ruling that the action was an abuse of process.

l2I. Alternate Finding Pursuant to Common Law: The Appeals Board considers the conduct of the
Respondent in bringing Action #1 and Action #2 to be an abuse of her authority. In both actions the
Respondent misused her position as Chief of the Piikani Nation to justifu unilaterally taking legal
action. The Chief and the Councillors must work together to govem the Piikani Nation for to condone
unilateral action such as that taken by the Respondent would result in anarchy. The best interests of
the Piikani Nation are not served by allowing anarchy to rule the day. As stated by the Petitioner, the
govemance structure of the Piikani Nation is a work in progress. It is the desire of this Appeals
Board that its decision provide some guidance to future Chief and Council of the Piikani Nation, at
least to stand for the proposition that Chief and Council must work together and avoid any of the



members of Chief and Council taking unilateral action purportedly in the name of the Piikani Nation.
The governance policies and procedures of the Piikani Nation must be followed as they develop over
time.

C. Disrupting conduct of Piikani Nation Administration and business. including while on
suspension

122. Finding Pursuant to Common Law - The legal proceedings commenced by the Respondent
disrupted the ability of the Piikani Nation to conduct business due to delay and expenditure of
resources caused by the unilateral actions of the Respondent. Action #2 put the lawyers and law
firms acting for the Piikani Nation in a conflict of interest and affected ongoing litigation involving
the Piikani Nation. The Respondent unilaterally attempted to delay or even stop legal proceedings
commenced by the Piikani Nation, some of which were commenced by the Chief and Council prior to
the Respondent becoming Chief. The Respondent interpreted her position as Chief as providing the
right to unilaterally ignore the wishes of both current Band Council and previous Chief and Council.
By doing so, the Respondent failed to maintain a standard of conduct expected of a member of the
Piikani Nation Council.

I23. Alternate Findings Pursuant to Piilranisslni: As discussed in paragraphs 119 and 120 above,
pursuant to the principles of Piikanissini, the Respondent must ensure that the internal governance
policies and procedures of the Piikani Nation are followed rather than acting unilaterally, which the
Respondent failed to do.

D. Disclosine privileeed Piikani Nation documents

124. Finding Pursuant to Piilranl'ssini - Although solicitor-client privilege does not form a part of
Piilwnissini, the conduct of the Respondent in potentially waiving solicitor-clierrt privilege by
attaching privileged documents to her affidavit engages the obligation of the Respondent to ensure the
values, principles and integrity of the Piikani by upholding the governance of the Piikani. It would
be contrary to upholding the governance of the Piikani and therefore contrary to the obligation to
ensure the value, principles and integrity of the Piikani are protected, if any member of Chief and
Council were allowed to use privileged or confidential information" which comes into their
possession by virtue of their position as Chief or Councillor, for their own purposes. Such a situation
does not result in governance for the Piikani Nation, it would result in anarchy. Accordingly, the
Appeals Board finds that the Respondent has failed in her obligations pursuant to Piikanissini.

125. Alternate Findine Pursuant to Common Law: The Respondent attached documents that were
subject to solicitor-client privilege to her affidavit filed on December 13, 2012 in the insolvency
proceedings. The Respondent had access to these documents by virtue of her position as Chief,
which is a fiduciary position. The affidavit was filed by the Respondent without the approval of the
Piikani Band Council and was in various capacities, including as a beneficiary of the Piikani
Investment Corporation. The conduct of the Respondent to unilaterally disclose solicitor-client
privileged documents (thereby potentially waiving privilege) which she had access to by virtue of her
position as Chief is conduct which fails to maintain the standard of conduct expected of a mernber of
the Piikani Nation Council, including an abuse of office that negatively affected the Piikani Nation.

Decision



126. The Appeals Board has reviewed all the evidence before it and the weight to be given to such
evidence. Based on that review as set out above, the Appeals Board finds that the Respondent failed
to maintain a standard of conduct expected of a mernber of the Piikani Nation Council, as set out in
the Election Bylaws and in keeping with the principles of Piikanissini.

I27. The Appeals Board finds this conduct of the Respondent to be of such a serious nature that
removal from the office of Chief of the Piikani Nation is necessary and appropriate.

128. Accordingly, the Appeals Board orders that the Respondent, Chief Gayle Strikes With A Gun be
removed as Chief of the Piikani Nation, effective immediately.

129. The Appeals Board notes that it does not have the jurisdiction to order the Piikani Nation Band
Council to pay honoraria to the Respondent. The issue of honoraria is outside the scope of these
Formal Proceedings and is a rnatter between the Respondent and Piikani Nation Band Council.

Schedule "A"
Pre-Hearing Decision of Appeals Board Dated November 22,2013
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Nove,mber 22,2013

Furtlrer to the Pre-hearing applications on Novernber 20,20L3 the Board has come to a decision on thc 4
iszues raised"

1. Rccpondcnt'r Requcst forl,egal Feer

The Board is €stablishcd by the Piikani Nation Election Alaw 2002 Regolartions (the "Election
Bylaw') io hcar an ap'peal r€sulting from a paition to r€move the Chief or a Councillor from office.
The Boad takes its authority from the Elcction Bylaw. The Elction Bylaw does not contain any right
or power of theAppeals Board to graut solisitor and cliot legal costs to any of the parties.

The Board was provided with a copy of thc Piikani Nation Council Band Council Resohtion 2013-
lll4-01 denyns the Respondcnt's request for legal fees. Both parties acknowledged that they had

receivod a copy of this Band Council Resohtrion.

In the face of this Band Council Resohxioru what the Respondent is arguing is for an order by the

Board compclling the Piikani Nation Council to gant solicitor and cliqrt legal costs. Such an order
would be akin to a rnandatory injunction. Mandalory iqiunctioru are remedi€E which, in the absence

of clear statutory authority to do so, only superior @urts may grant pursuant to their plenary powen.

Under sections 96 - 100 of tfu Constitution Act a court of plcnary jurisdiction bas thc power to gant
relief such as a rnandatory injunction. The Board is a tribunal not a coutt of plenary jruisdiction and

thrs does not have plcnary power to grmt tbc relief requcsted by thc Respondeirt.

Since the Elcction Bylaw does not give the statutory authority for tbe Board to grant solicitor and

clielrt cocts and thc Boaxd is not a tribunl of plenary jurisdictiorL thc Board c€nnot graot the
Respondent's request for solicitor and client costs.

Evcn if this power does reside in the Boand, thc Board has already set otrt in the Rulcs of Condust that
each party will bear its own costs and accodin$y, thc Board would in my sv€ot decline to exercise
whatevcr discretion that it might have to order solicitor and client costs bc payablc to the Respondent.

Thc issu€ of an Okanagan Order was not argued by either couruel and the Board has no comment
thcrcon.

2. Allegations of ReasonableApprehension of Bias

The Respondecrt raised 3 isnrcs with r€spect to thc allegations of reasonable appreheirsion of bias:

L Gilbert Eaglc Bear, Sr.;

U. Providing unsolicited advice; and

m. Setting ncw hearing dates.

The test for reasonable apprdrcnsion of bias is as quoted by the parties from Committeefor Justice
and Liberty v Canada (Nuional Energr Board), [978] 1 SCR 369 at para 40.
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I. Gilb€rt Eaglc Bear, Sr,

As pc counscl for the Responde,nt's November 21,2013 email the Respordent withdrew her
allegation of bias or reasonable appreheirsion of bias as aginst Mr. Gilbert Eagfe Bear, Sr.

Accnrdingly this argument is dismissed.

II. Prroviding unsolicited advice

The Respondent alleged tbat the Boad is biased because of inappropriate words or behaviour relatsd
to the May l, 2013 lett€r from thc Board to both parties requesting that, sirce applications had

already been set bcfore the Federal Court in the interects of reducing costs for all parties to advisc thc
Fedqal Conrt that the Board would be relying on thc tinrsht u. Indian Head,ll990l I SCR 653 case

of thc Supreme Court of Canada to cNrsure the administrative prccess proceedcd in a fair and timely
fashion by malcing any dccision of the Board conditional upon either thc Piikani Nation Bacrd Council
confirming that as at January 8, 2013, thc Piikani Nation Corncil unanimously conscnted to the
recommendation for tho re,moval of the Respondcnt as Chief, and/or having the Petitioncr file an

app€al in accordancc with s. 10.07 of thc Elcction Bylaw. Tbc Respondent allcged that this l€tter,
addressing the issue of Band Council Resolution dated January 8, 2013 (the "January BCR') which
recornmeirded ttlat the issue of the rEmoval of the Rcspondcnt as Chief be submitted to the Boan4
was inappropriate because it gave legal advice as to how thc rcctify the situ,ation.

What thc Respondcnt is arguing is that the process which commerrced ln2012 be set back to square

one duc to an administrative procedrrral issrc which does not prejudicc thc Respondent sincc either
the Piikani Nation Band Council or the Paitioner could sinply r€staft the process. No benefit would
be garn€rod by accepting thc relief reguestcd by tbe Respondent. Rather, the only result would bc
delay and addcd expensc, whictr prejudices both parti6,

The Boad finds that "an infomed p€rson, vicving thc matter realistically and practically - and

having thought thc rnatter tbrough" would not reach thc conclusion that there is a r€asonablc

apprehension ofbias for or against onc party or thc other.

Accordingly, this argumcnt is dismissed

UL Settingnerv hearing datcs

Thc Respondcot also allegcd the Board €ngagd in inappoo'priate behaviour by setting a new hearing
date in July, 2013 whe,n thc parties had agre€d to adjourn the June 6,2013 hearing to await the

decision of the Fcdcral Coud on injuoctivc rclic,f, The Boad granted the adjounment on thc
condition that the Fdefial C;ourt motion would be heard on June 24,20L3 and whcn tbat condition
was not met it exersised its pow€rs under section 1l,05 of thc Bylaw to set a new hcaring date.

The Board is oreated under the Bylaw and Regrrlations 0o conduct re,moval appeals proceedings and it
has the pow€r to deterrrine the rules for condrrct of thc hearing. Setting a hearing datc docs not raise
a reasonable ap'prchmsion ofbiaq panicularly iD light of thc order of the Federal Court directing tbat
this matter first be heard by this Board. A reasonable aod right mindd p€rson would not concludc
tbat sctting a new hcaring date raised a reasonable apprehe,nsion of bias against eitherparty.

Accordingly this argumcnt is dismiss€d.



4

Jruisdiction of the Board

The Respondent raised two issues with rcgard to the jurisdiction of the Board:

I. The deoisions of thc Piiloni Nation Council to suspcnd the Respondent leading up to and
including the referral of the Pcition to the Boar4 and

IL The Piikani Nation Council's compliancc with the requirements of soctions 10.05 and
10.04.02 of tbe Piiluni Nation Election Ubw, 2002.

I. With respet to thc first issuc, the Boand cannot rule ou matt€rs outside of its jurisdiction. The
decisions of the Piikani Nation Couocil to suspend the Respondent in S€ptemb€r and Novcrnber 2012
are not reviewable by the Piikani Nation Rcmoval Appeals Boad and do not affect whether a rnatt€r

of removal of a Ctrief or a Councillor is properly before the Board.

The ultimate issue to be decided by thc Board is wheth€r there is sufficient evideirce to zupport the
Petition to rcmove the Respondetrt as Chicf. If any of these issr.res raised by the Respondent are
relevont to the ultimatc iszue, the Hearing is the forum for those issues to be argued and the
Respondeirt is free to do so. The Board has the corryctcnce to rule on its own jurisdiction (Canadian
Pacitic Ltd. u ltlatsqui Indian Band,ll99ll I SCR 3). This fitst issue raised by the Respondeirt is
contained in the Respondent's documents filod with the Boand so is available for argumenrt by the
parties at thc Hearing.

The Board finds that this first issuc does not affcqt the juridiction of the Board to continue to the
Hearing.

tr. With regErd to thc second issuc raised by thc Respondent Piikani Nation Election Bylaw, 2002
thcnc arc tsro ways the Board may reccivc a Pctition for rcmoval of a Chief or Councillor -
recommendstion of the Bmd Council through a Band Council Resolution (s*tion 10.O4,02) or an
appeal of a Petitioner where a Paition has be€n refused (section 10.07).

The Respondent aryu€d sections 10.05 and 10.04.02 w6c not coarylied with bocausc the Band
Courcil Resolution 2013-010841 dated Jannry 8, 2013 (thc "January BCR') was not unardmous rul

stated in Pu'fani Nation Election Bylaw, 2002:

10.05 Thc Piikani Nation Council rnay, by wunimous consent as widenced by a Band
Corurcil Resolution and in accordance with subsection 10.04.02, recommend that a
penon be declared ineligible to contirnre to hold thc office of Chief or Councillor if. . .

Thc Respondem argrrcd that 'toanitnous" requirod the signahre of each of the 12 Councillon and the
Chief on the Bmd Council Resolution and the January BCR only contains 8 signatures.

Following the argument of the Respondent to its logical legal corrclusioq to interpret the phrase
'fuDanimous cons€nt" so as to require thc Respordent to sign the Band Counsil Rcsoh1ion
recommending she be ddared ineligible to continue to hold office would lead to a legal absurdity. It
is a corrmon legal principlc that where a statulory provision can bc r€ad 2 ways, one of which leads
to a lcgal abstudity, the reading which docs not lead to the legal absurdity is the meaning to be rxed.
A reading of this section of the Election Bylaw which requir€s the agreement of the Chief or
Councillor who is the subject of the removal proceedings would reirdcr this section meaningless.
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Thc Rcspondcnt also argued that she was not consultod on the conposition of the Boarrd. S. 21.03 of
thc Regulations included in the Election Bylaw sets out thc qualifications for the Board members and
there is no requircmcnt for consultation with thc party who is the subject of the Petition The Board
finds no merit in this argum€,nt.

Accordingly, the Board does not agrec with the Respondent's argument on the definition of
'tnanimous" in this context.

The Piikani Nmion Council passd Band Council Resolution 20134508{1 datd May 8, 2013
rati$ing and reaffirming thc Juuary BCR. This Band Council Resolution was signed by alt 12

Councillors. In additio$ the Pe;titioner has fild an appeal pursuant to s. 10.07 of the Election Bylaw.

As discussed under the heading of "Reasonable Apprehension of Bias" abovg pusuant to Knight v
hdian Head, teshnical erors in procedural administrative rnatters will not invalidatc the process if
they would do no more thsn to inposc a purely proccaurat rcquirernent which is at odds with the
princlpl€s of flexibility of administrativc proccdure. Accepting thc argumccrt of thc Respondcrf for
the Board to decline to takc jruisdictioa would s€wG no purpm€ other than to caus€ firth€r delay and
addcd costs to the entire prcoess, therrby creating prejudicc to both parties, which is contrary to the
proper administration of the adcrinistrative prccess.

Thc Board can determine its own jruisdiction according to Carudian Pacific Ltd. u Matsqui Indian
Band,ll99ll I SCR 3, and tbe Board has d€t€nnined thst the decisions of the Piikani Nation Council
regarding the zuspension of thc Resporderfi do not atrct the jurisdiction of the Board in this matt€r
and the requfu€Nn€nts of sestion 10.05 and 10.04.02 of lhc Piiknti Nation Election Bylaw, 2002 wqe
met to properly constitrne the Board. kr addidon, thc Board notes tlnt thc Pctitioner filed an appeal
prmuant to s. 10.07 of the Election Bylaw. Altbough thcsc actions werc akcn latc, thc p'ractical effect
of thcm was to put the rnater before the Board in accondance with thc spirit and inrent of the Election
Bylaw. As discussed abovg the alten:ative is to restart the process which only results in delay,
additional cocts and thereforc prejdice to both parties.

Thc Board thereforc has thc jurisdiction to conduct, hear and daermine the rnatter of whctrer the
Respondent is ineligible to continuc to hold the office of Chief.

The Board reconmends that thc Piikani Nation ame,nd its Election Bylaw to clari$ that'\rnaninous"
does not hclude the Chief or Councillor who is th€ subjest of thc Petition since an interpraation that
'tlDanfunous" requirec the signature of the individual aginst whom rernoval is sought would r€nd€r
this portion of the Election Bylaw meaningless.

Unsollcltcd Submimfunr of the Rerpondent

The Petitioner argued that thc letter of November 12,2013 from thc Respondcnt to the Board which
was submitted after thc Pctitioner's writtcn rebrnral stat€menb and documents should not be
considcredbythc Boad.

Paragrryh 4 of the Hearing Rules of Conduct does not allow for thc Respondent to makc a rebuttal to
thc Pctitioner's written rebuttal statemelrts and documents. Duing zubmissions, the Respondeot
advised the Board that the letter of November 12,2013 was not an attqnpt to introduce new evidence
or to make argurnent, rather it was only to set out the position of the Respondent on these issues. The
Board acc€,pts thcsc submissions of the Respondent.
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Tt19 Board daennrines that it will digregard the Novernbcr 12,2013 lctter and will rely only on the

evidcrrce propcrly before it and argrrmcm of respective cotrnscl at ttrc H€ariry.

Concluriou

In concludon:

l) Tho Board dcclines to make an order with respect to the Reqondart's legal fces;

2) th€ Bosrd finds that thsc arc no grourds to find a rEasootblo rypreheirsion of bias of thc Board;

3) Tfic Boad is prroperly constitrld and has tbc jtuisdistion to hcan thc Petition; and

4) Thc Board will not consids tbc Noveober 12,2fil3lett€r fr,om Ms. Whytc.

Plllrni Nrdon Rcnovd Appcdr Borrd


